## **RECEIVED**

# State of Wisconsin Court of Appeals District 2

07-30-2019

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

Appeal No. 2019AP000886-CR

State of Wisconsin,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

٧.

Chidiebiele Praises Ozodi,

Defendant-Appellant.

On appeal from a judgment of the Walworth County Circuit Court, The Honorable Kristine E. Drettwan, presiding

**Defendant-Appellant's Brief and Appendix** 

Law Offices of Jeffrey W. Jensen 111 E. Wisconsin Avenue, Suite 1925 Milwaukee, WI 53202-4825

414-671-9484

Attorneys for the Appellant

# **

#### Statement of the Issues

Whether the circuit court erroneously exercised its discretion, and denied Ozodi his constitutional right to present a defense, were the judge instructed the jury that, "a defendant's voluntary intoxication is not by itself a defense."

Answered by the circuit court: No. This is a correct statement of the law, and it does not deny the defendant his constitutional right to present a defense.

# **Summary of the Argument**

Under the evidence presented at trial, it is uncontroverted that, at the time of the offenses, Ozodi was severely intoxicated on L.S.D. and marijuana. Moreover, according to an expert witness, the effect of L.S.D. is to distort reality for the person who is under the influence. As a matter of objective fact, this evidence is clearly relevant to the question of whether Ozodi formed the intent to actually have sexual contact with the

alleged victim, and whether he knew that she did not consent.

Based on the fact that, in 2014, the legislature removed voluntary intoxication as a statutory affirmative defense, the state moved the court in this case to instruct the jury that voluntary intoxication *is not a defense to the charges*. The court partially granted the state's request. The court told the jury that, "A defendant's voluntary intoxication is not by itself a defense."

This is not a correct statement of the law, and it denied Ozodi his constitutional right to present a defense.

The removal of the voluntary intoxication statutory affirmative defense means merely that such evidence is not subject to the affirmative defense procedure in criminal cases. That is, once the defendant meets his burden of persuasion on an affirmative defense, the state is then required to disprove the facts beyond a reasonable doubt.

It does not mean, though, as the state asserts, that voluntary intoxication is not relevant evidence on the issue of intent. Thus, the court's instruction is not a correct statement of the law.

Moreover, the court's instruction that the jury could only consider the voluntary intoxication evidence insofar as it was relevant to the credibility of the witnesses, but not as to whether the defendant committed the crimes charged, denied Ozodi his constitutional right to present a defense.

#### Statement of the Case

#### I. Procedural History

The defendant-appellant, Chidiebele Ozodi (hereinafter "Ozodi"), was charged in a criminal complaint filed in Walworth County on October 24, 2016 with attempted second degree sexual assault, operating a motor vehicle without owner's consent, and disorderly conduct. (R:2) The charges arose out of an incident that occurred on October 4, 2016 in the City of Whitewater. In a nutshell, the complaint alleged that Ozodi was severely intoxicated on L.S.D. and, perhaps, other substances. He was observed walking, naked, through the U.W.-Whitewater campus by another young woman, Andrea<sup>1</sup>, who offered him some shorts and a T-shirt to wear. After a brief conversation, according to the complaint, Ozodi said something to the effect that he was going to have sex with Andrea, and he pushed her to the ground. At that point another man knocked Ozodi off of Andrea. The complaint also alleged that Ozodi drove a friend's car without consent, and that he was vulgar and disorderly at the hospital.

Ozodi waived his preliminary hearing. (R:67-3) The state filed an information that mirrored the charges in the criminal complaint. Ozodi entered not quilty pleas to all three charges.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> This is a pseudonym as required by § 809.86(4), Stats.

(R:68-2)

There were no substantive pretrial motions.

The case proceeded to jury trial beginning on January 29, 2019.

Ozodi testified at trial. He told the jury that he had little recollection of any of the events alleged in the complaint.

The court conducted several jury instruction conferences. The state requested that the court read an instruction that, in part, told the jury that, "Voluntary intoxication of any witness may be relevant evidence and may have bearing on the credibility of that witness. However, a defendant's voluntary intoxication is not a defense and cannot be used to show that the defendant lacked the necessary knowledge to commit the alleged offense(s) or that the defendant did not intend to commit the alleged offense(s)." (R:18) The defense objected, and argued that Ozodi should be able to argue to the jury that-although it is not a complete affirmative defense-- voluntary intoxication is relevant evidence as to whether or not he intended to commit the crime, and whether he knew that Andrea did not consent to having sex. (R:72-223; R:73-5, 6))

The court ruled that it would give an abridged version of the instruction that the state requested. Specifically, the judge said, "I'm going to read the instruction as it's written up until that point, and it will read as follows: however, a defendant's voluntary intoxication is not by itself a defense period." (R73-12,

Thus, the final instruction to the jury was as follows: "Evidence has been presented which if believed by you tends to show that the defendant was voluntarily intoxicated at the time of the alleged offenses. Voluntary intoxication of any witness may be relevant evidence and may have bearing on the credibility of that witness. However, a defendant's voluntary intoxication is not by itself a defense." (R:73-117)

The jury returned verdicts finding Ozodi guilty of all charges. (R:73-154)

The court sentenced Ozodi to five years probation, with six months in jail as a condition. (R:74-19; R:50).

Ozodi timely filed a notice of intent to pursue postconviction relief. He then filed a postconviction motion alleging that Wis. JI-140 misstated the law concerning the meaning of "reasonable doubt." (R:59) The court denied that motion on April 30, 2019. (R:98)<sup>2</sup>

Ozodi now appeals to the Wisconsin Court of Appeals.

### II. Factual Background

According to Ozodi's friend Arthur<sup>3</sup>, one afternoon they took acid (L.S.D.) and smoked marijuana at Arthur's apartment.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Due to the Supreme Court's decision in *State v. Trammell*, 382 Wis. 2d 832, 917 N.W.2d 233 (2018), Ozodi does not raise this issue on appeal.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> This is also a pseudonym since, arguably, Arthur is a victim of the charge of operating auto without owner's consent.

(R:72-205) Athur was having a bad trip so he went into the bedroom with his girlfriend. (R:72-206)

Despite having his own car outside the apartment, Ozodi apparently then took Arthur's car and drove off (R:72-206). Arthur began receiving text messages from various people to the effect that Ozodi had crashed Arthur's car into a tree in the UW-Whitewater parking lot. (R:72-206) Ozodi testified that he had no recollection of taking the car or crashing it. (R:73-68)

Witnesses said that, after the crash, Ozodi got out of the car, and was approached by Andrea, who offered him some shorts and a t-shirt. (R:72-173) According to Andrea, it was pretty apparent that Ozodi was not in a normal state of mind. He was very agitated and very paranoid. (R:72-174) Ozodi put the clothes on, and then he told Andrea that he was "tripping on acid" and he asked her if she was God. (R:72-175). He told her he was going to have sex with her, he pushed her to the ground, and then he tried to get on top of her. *Id.* A male rugby player pushed him off. (R:72-175) Ozodi then ran off.

Significantly, Andrea testified that Ozodi never actually had contact with any of her intimate parts. (R:72-18) Ozodi was still wearing the clothes he had put on. *Id.* 

Ozodi was later found by officers masturbating in the middle of a sports field at UW-Whitewater. (R:72-125)

The state presented evidence that Ozodi's blood was positive for THC, the active ingredient in marijuana, but that it is

not possible to test for LSD. (R:73-20, 22, 23) Concerning the effects of LSD, an expert witness from the State Laboratory of Hygiene, Stephanie Weber, told the jury that, "As far as psychological impact. . . essentially this category of drugs will alter a person's perception of reality. So this can be a perception of time. It can be a perception of what's actually happening around you. So after ingesting LSD someone may sense that time is moving much slower than it actually is or it could speed up . . . This category of drugs can also have impact on what people see. So it can cause visual hallucinations in that a blank wall to them may have objects moving on it or objects might be morphing into each other whereas in reality they're not doing that, obviously. So this drug basically will completely change someone's perception of reality and what is happening around them." (R:73-24, 25)

# **Argument**

I. The court erroneously exercised its discretion in instructing the jury that voluntary intoxication is not a defense to the charge. This is an incorrect statement of the law, and it denied Ozodi his constitutional right to present a defense.

Under the evidence presented at trial, it is uncontroverted that, at the time of the offenses, Ozodi was severely intoxicated on L.S.D. and marijuana. Moreover, according to an expert

witness, the effect of L.S.D. is to distort reality for the person who is under the influence.

Based on the fact that, in 2014, the legislature removed voluntary intoxication as a statutory affirmative defense, the state moved the court in this case to instruct the jury that voluntary intoxication *is not a defense to the charges*. The court partially granted the state's request. The court told the jury that, "A defendant's voluntary intoxication is not by itself a defense."

This is not a correct statement of the law, and it denied Ozodi his constitutional right to present a defense.

The removal of the voluntary intoxication statutory affirmative defense merely means that such evidence is not subject to the affirmative defense procedure in criminal cases. That is, once the defendant meets his burden of persuasion on an affirmative defense, the state is then required to disprove the facts beyond a reasonable doubt.

It does not mean, though, as the state asserts, that voluntary intoxication is not relevant evidence on the issue of intent or knowledge. Thus, the court's instruction is not a correct statement of the law.

Moreover, the court's instruction that the jury could only consider the voluntary intoxication evidence insofar as it was relevant to credibility of the witnesses, but not as to whether the defendant committed the crimes charged, denied Ozodi his

constitutional right to present a defense.

#### A. Standard of Appellate Review

"A trial court has broad discretion in deciding whether to give a particular jury instruction, and the court must exercise its discretion to 'fully and fairly inform the jury of the rules of law applicable to the case and to assist the jury in making a reasonable analysis of the evidence. [internal citation omitted] However, we will independently review whether a jury instruction is appropriate under the specific facts of a given case." *State v. Jensen*, 2007 WI App 256, ¶ 8, 306 Wis. 2d 572, 581, 743 N.W.2d 468, 472–73.

Here, Ozodi's contention is that the circuit court's instruction to the jury concerning voluntary intoxication also denied him his constitutional right to present a defense. "[W]hether a defendant was denied the constitutional right to present a defense . . . is a question of constitutional fact, which we review *de novo.*" *Jensen,* 306 Wis. 2d at 581, 743 N.W.2d at 473

B. The circuit court's instruction concerning voluntary intoxication is not a correct statement of the law, and it denied Ozodi his constitutional right to present a defense.

Formerly, voluntary intoxication was a complete

affirmative defense where the defendant was able to present sufficient evidence to suggest that he was so thoroughly intoxicated that he was incapable of forming the intent to perform an act or commit a crime. *State v. Strege*, 116 Wis. 2d 477, 483, 343 N.W.2d 100, 104 (1984)

However, the legislature eliminated the statutory voluntary intoxication affirmative defense effective April 18, 2014. *See* 2013 Wis. Act 307.

At the outset, it is important to discuss the procedural implications of a statutory affirmative defense in a criminal case. Concerning a statutory affirmative defense, the defendant has a "burden of persuasion" to present sufficient evidence to raise the affirmative defense as an issue. If he succeeds, then the burden of proof switches to the state to disprove, beyond a reasonable doubt, those facts. See, § 939.70, Stats.; see, generally, State v. Saternus, 127 Wis. 2d 460, 479, 381 N.W.2d 290, 298 (1986)

Thus, when the legislature eliminated voluntary intoxication as a statutory affirmative defense, it meant merely that, where the defendant presented evidence of voluntary intoxication, the state was not then required to disprove those facts beyond a reasonable doubt. The repeal of the statute-contrary to what the state seems to believe-- does not mean that evidence of the defendant's voluntary intoxication is irrelevant to the issue of whether the defendant intended to

commit the crime in question. Really, the state's instruction goes even further. The jury was told that it *may not* consider voluntary intoxication as it bears upon Ozodi's intent.

This, of course, is not a correct statement of the law.

Additionally, the instruction utterly denied Ozodi his constitutional right to present a defense.

It is well-settled that a defendant in a criminal case has the constitutional right to present a defense. "We have recognized, as the defendant asserts, that the confrontation and compulsory process clauses of the Sixth Amendment of the U.S. Constitution and Article I, Section 7 of the Wisconsin Constitution "grant defendants a constitutional right to present evidence." Our court has stated that "[t]he rights granted by the confrontation and compulsory process clauses are fundamental and essential to achieving the constitutional objective of a fair trial." The confrontation clause grants defendants "the right to 'effective' cross-examination of witnesses whose testimony is adverse,"10 and the compulsory process clause "grants defendants the right to admit favorable testimony." State v. St. George, 2002 WI 50, ¶ 14, 252 Wis. 2d 499, 512-13, 643 N.W.2d 777, 781–82

The only limitation is that, "The accused does not have an unfettered right to offer testimony that is incompetent, privileged, or otherwise inadmissible under the standard rules of evidence." *State v. Walker,* 154 Wis.2d 158, 192, 453 N.W.2d

127 (1990) When evidence is irrelevant or not offered for a proper purpose, the exclusion of that evidence does not violate a defendant's constitutional right to present a defense.

Here, the court's instruction concerning voluntary intoxication, in effect, excluded that evidence as it related to the issue of knowledge and intent. The court told the jury that the evidence could only be considered insofar as it relates to the credibility of a witness. This plainly violates Ozodi's right to present a defense.

### Conclusion

For these reasons, it is respectfully requested that the court of appeals reverse Ozodi's conviction, and remand the matter for a new trial with instructions that the court not instruct the jury that voluntary intoxication is not a defense.

[ 2019.	Dated at Milwaukee, Wisconsin, this day of July,
	Law Offices of Jeffrey W. Jensen Attorneys for Appellant