Case 2019AP000886 Brief of Respondent Filed 10-11-2019 Page 1 of 13

RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN 10-11-2019

COURT OF APPEAL CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT II

Case No. 2019AP886-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

CHIDIEBELE PRAISES OZODI,

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION, ENTERED IN WALWORTH COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE KRISTINE E. DRETTWAN, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

AARON R. O'NEIL Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1041818

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

ISSUE PRESENTED

Page 4 of 13

Has Chidibele Praises Ozodi shown that the circuit court erroneously instructed the jury about how it could consider the effect of his voluntary intoxication on his criminal intent?

The circuit court answered no.

This Court should answer no.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

The State requests neither. The parties' briefs will fully develop the issues presented, which can be resolved by applying well-established law.

INTRODUCTION

Ozodi took LSD, stole and crashed a car, and tried to sexually assault a woman. At trial, the circuit court instructed the jury that Ozodi's voluntary intoxication was not a defense to his crimes, though it "may be relevant evidence."

On appeal, Ozodi claims that this instruction misstated the law and denied him his constitutional right to present a defense because it prevented the jury from considering how his intoxication affected his intent.

Ozodi is wrong. The jury instructions as a whole allowed the jury to consider the effect of Ozodi's intoxication on his intent. Ozodi also presented evidence about his intoxication and argued that it showed that he did not act intentionally. Ozodi thus received what he claims the law owed him, and he is not entitled to relief.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A jury convicted Ozodi of attempted second-degree sexual assault, operating a motor vehicle without the owner's

Case 2019AP000886 Brief of Respondent Filed 10-11-2019 Page 5 of 13

consent, and disorderly conduct. (R. 54.) The circuit court placed him on probation. (R. 54.)

Ozodi has never disputed that he committed the actions that led to the charges. In October 2016, Ozodi and a friend, both students at UW-Whitewater, took LSD. (R. 72:206; 73:62–64.) Ozodi later drove his friend's mother's car, crashed into a tree, and fled the accident while naked. (R. 72:118–19, 124–26, 198–200, 210–12.) Ozodi ran to a group of people standing near an athletic field. (R. 72:163–65.) A woman gave him shorts and a shirt to wear. (R. 72:174.) Ozodi then pushed the woman to the ground and told her that he was going to have sex with her. (R. 72:165, 175.) A man pulled Ozodi off the woman. (R. 72:175.) Ozodi then ran to the center of the athletic field, where he began masturbating before police arrested him. (R. 72:127–30, 190–92.)

Ozodi's defense was that he did not commit these acts intentionally. Before trial, Ozodi requested that the court allow a witness to testify that Ozodi had good moral character and would not sexually assault anyone. (R. 17.) In response, the State requested a jury instruction saying that Ozodi's voluntary intoxication was not a defense to the charges. (R. 71:5.) See 2013 Wisconsin Act 307 (amending Wis. Stat. § 939.42 to eliminate voluntary intoxication as a defense). The State explained that it was concerned that Ozodi would use the character evidence "in a roundabout way" to establish an intoxication defense. (R. 72:13–14.)

The court ruled that it would allow the witness to testify "that [Ozodi] is a good moral person and that he would not harm or sexually assault someone." (R. 72:15.) But, the court said, the witness could not say that Ozodi had that reputation in the community. (R. 72:15–16.) It also determined that the witness could not say "that it was the drugs that made him act this way." (R. 72:16–17.)

During trial, the parties and the court discussed the State's proposed instruction on voluntary intoxication. (R. 72:222–23.) That instruction read:

Evidence has been presented which, if believed by you, tends to show that the defendant was voluntarily intoxicated at the time of the alleged offense(s). Voluntary intoxication of any witness may be relevant evidence and may have bearing on the credibility of that witness. However, a defendant's voluntary intoxication is not a defense and cannot be used to show that the defendant lacked the necessary knowledge to commit the alleged offense(s) or that the defendant did not intend to commit the alleged offense(s).

(R. 18:2.)

Ozodi challenged the part of the last sentence saying that his voluntary intoxication was not relevant to his intent. (R. 72:222.) He acknowledged that the Legislature had eliminated the affirmative defense of voluntary intoxication. (R. 73:3–4.) But, he argued, the jury should still be allowed to consider how his intoxication affected his intent. (R. 73:4–6.) Ozodi also argued that giving the State's instruction might violate his Sixth Amendment right to present a defense. (R. 73:5–7.)

The State argued that the court should give its instruction because, since voluntary intoxication was no longer a defense, Ozodi's intoxication was not relevant to whether he had the required mental states for his crimes. (R. 73:7–8.) It acknowledged that the evidence of intoxication was relevant to "somebody's credibility or their memory of what happened." (R. 73:9.) But, the State said, "it can't be used as a defense by a defendant to try to show that they didn't intend or know what they were doing." (R. 73:9.)

The court decided to give the State's instruction, but it removed the language that Ozodi had objected to. (R. 73:12–13.) The court explained that "the real question here" was how

far the Legislature's repeal of the voluntary intoxication defense went. (R. 73:11.) It noted that a post-repeal comment to the pattern jury instruction on voluntary intoxication said that "questions remain" whether the repeal categorically prohibited "evidence relevant to the nonexistence of the mental element." (R. 73:10–11.) See Wis. JI–Criminal 765 (2015).

Giving the instruction with the language removed, the court said, would tell the jury that voluntary intoxication was not a defense. (R. 73:13.) But, it added, the instruction "also allows the defense to present their case in showing that, yes, there is this voluntary intoxication but look at all these facts and circumstances that negate the mental state in addition to the voluntary intoxication." (R. 73:13.)

The instruction that the court gave at trial said:

Evidence has been presented which if believed by you tends to show that the defendant was voluntarily intoxicated at the time of the alleged offenses. Voluntary intoxication of any witness may be relevant evidence and may have bearing on the credibility of that witness. However, a defendant's voluntary intoxication is not by itself a defense.

(R. 73:117.)

Ozodi appeals. (R. 63.)

STANDARD OF REVIEW

This Court will not reverse "[t]he decision to give or not to give a requested jury instruction . . . absent an erroneous exercise of discretion." $State\ v.\ Hubbard$, 2008 WI 92, ¶ 28, 313 Wis. 2d 1, 752 N.W.2d 839 (citation omitted). This Court affirms discretionary decisions if the court, relying on the facts of record and the applicable law, used a demonstrable rational process to reach a reasonable decision. $State\ v.\ Doss$, 2008 WI 93, ¶ 19, 312 Wis. 2d 570, 754 N.W.2d 150. But whether an instruction is appropriate under the case's facts

Case 2019AP000886 Brief of Respondent Filed 10-11-2019 Page 8 of 13

is a legal issue that this Court reviews independently. State v. Sanders, 2011 WI App 125, \P 13, 337 Wis. 2d 231, 806 N.W.2d 250

ARGUMENT

Ozodi has not shown that circuit court erroneously instructed the jury about his voluntary intoxication, and the court's instruction did not deny him his right to present a defense.

A. This Court will not reverse a court's decision regarding jury instructions unless the instructions as a whole misstated the law.

"A circuit court has broad discretion in deciding whether to give a requested jury instruction." *Hubbard*, 313 Wis. 2d 1, ¶ 28 (citation omitted). The court exercises this discretion "based on the facts and circumstances of the case." *State v. Roubik*, 137 Wis. 2d 301, 308, 404 N.W.2d 105 (Ct. App. 1987). The court's "discretion extends to both choice of language and emphasis." *Id*.

"On review, the challenged words of jury instructions are not evaluated in isolation." *State v. Ellington*, 2005 WI App 243, ¶ 7, 288 Wis. 2d 264, 707 N.W.2d 907. "Rather, jury instructions 'must be viewed in the context of the overall charge." *Id.* (citation omitted). "Relief is not warranted unless the court is 'persuaded that the instructions, when viewed as a whole, misstated the law or misdirected the jury." *Id.* (citation omitted). "[J]ury instructions that, considering the 'proceedings as a whole,' adequately give to the jury the appropriate legal principles will be upheld even though they may not be phrased" precisely or elegantly. *Sanders*, 337 Wis. 2d 231, ¶ 13 (citation omitted).

B. Ozodi's claim fails because the instructions as a whole allowed the jury to consider his voluntary intoxication's effect on his intent.

Ozodi argues that the jury instruction on voluntary intoxication misstated the law and violated his right to present a defense. (Ozodi's Br. 11–14.) It did this, he claims, because it told the jury "that it *may not* consider voluntary intoxication as it bears on Ozodi's intent." (Ozodi's Br. 13.) But the instructions allowed the jury to consider the effect of Ozodi's intoxication on his intent. So, assuming that the law allows such consideration, Ozodi got exactly what he wanted. He is thus not entitled to relief from this Court.

The court instructed the jury that evidence of voluntary intoxication "may be relevant evidence." (R. 73:117.) It also instructed the jury about intent on the sexual-assault and operating-without-consent charges. (R. 73:107–08.) Those instructions told the jury that "[y]ou cannot look into [Ozodi's] mind to find intent." (R. 73:107–08.) Instead, they said that "[i]ntent must be found, if found at all, from the defendant's acts, words, statements, if any, and from all the facts and circumstances in this case bearing on intent." (R. 73:107.)

These instructions together informed the jury that it could consider Ozodi's intoxication when determining if he acted intentionally. The court said that his intoxication could be relevant evidence. And the jury knew that it needed to consider "all the facts and circumstances" in the case when determining intent. (R. 73:107.) If the jury found the evidence of Ozodi's intoxication relevant to his intent, the instructions told the jury that it could consider that evidence. Thus, if Ozodi is right that evidence of his intoxication is still relevant evidence, then the court's instructions were correct. Ozodi has shown no error.

Ozodi contends that the court's instructions misstated what he believes is the law. He says that the repeal of the Case 2019AP000886 Brief of Respondent Filed 10-11-2019 Page 10 of 13

voluntary intoxication defense did not, as the State argued below, make evidence of a defendant's voluntary intoxication irrelevant to intent. (Ozodi's Br. 12–13.) And he complains that the State's instruction prevented the jury from considering the evidence in this way. (Ozodi's Br. 13.)

But these arguments ignore that the circuit court removed the State's proposed language that would have prevented the jury from considering the effect of Ozodi's intoxication on his intent. They also ignore that the rest of the jury instructions allowed the jury to consider how Ozodi's intoxication affected his intent. Perhaps Ozodi thinks that the court had an affirmative duty to directly tell the jury that it must consider the effect of his intoxication of his intent. But this argument would be forfeited because Ozodi never asked for that instruction. See Bergeron v. State, 85 Wis. 2d 595, 605, 271 N.W.2d 386 (1978).

Ozodi also says that the court's instruction, "A defendant's voluntary intoxication is not by itself a defense," incorrectly states the law. (Ozodi's Br. 10.) He is wrong. The Legislature eliminated voluntary intoxication as an affirmative defense. See 2013 Wisconsin Act 307; Wis. Stat. § 939.42. The court was thus correct to tell the jury that it was not a defense to Ozodi's crimes. And the State fails to see how this instruction kept the jury from considering the effect of Ozodi's voluntary intoxication on his intent. As explained, the court's other instructions told the jury that his intoxication, along with all the other circumstances, could be relevant evidence of his intent.

Next, Ozodi contends that the instruction limited the jury's consideration of his intoxication to credibility. (Ozodi's Br. 14.) The instructions as a whole did not do that. They told the jury to consider all facts and circumstances when assessing Ozodi's intent and said that intoxication may be relevant evidence. And while the court also said that evidence of intoxication was relevant to witness credibility, it did not

Case 2019AP000886 Brief of Respondent Filed 10-11-2019 Page 11 of 13

limit the jury's consideration of the evidence only to credibility.

Ozodi also argues that the instructions violated his right to present a defense because they did not let the jury consider his intoxication's effect on his intent. (Ozodi's Br. 13–14.) This claim should fail because, as argued, the instructions did not do that.

Moreover, Ozodi ignores that he was allowed to present evidence of his intoxication and argue that it showed he did not have criminal intent. Ozodi elicited testimony about his strange behavior and statements during and after the crimes from several witnesses. (R. 72:136–37, 150–53, 175, 191, 195– 97.) He also presented testimony that he normally was not a danger to women. (R. 73:41–45.) Ozodi questioned an expert about the effects of LSD on a person's perception of reality. (R. 73:26–31.) And Ozodi testified about the effects the LSD had on him and claimed that he remembered almost nothing about the day. (R. 73:63, 69-73, 78-81.) Ozodi's counsel also discussed the intoxication's effect on Ozodi's intent in both her opening statement and closing argument. (R. 72:114–16; 73:137–43.) She specifically asked the jury during the latter to consider Ozodi's intoxication when determining if the State had proven that he acted intentionally. (R. 73:140–41.)

Thus, Ozodi is wrong that the court's instruction stopped him from presenting evidence of his intoxication's effect on his intent. And he is also wrong that the instruction prevented the jury from considering that evidence. Ozodi got what he wanted from the circuit court. He has shown no error.

CONCLUSION

This Court should affirm the circuit court's judgment of conviction.